# Patients with Substance Use Disorders and Addiction: Perioperative Issues

# 111

Tim Neumann and Claudia Spies

# Contents

111.1	Introduction			
111.2	Substance	e Use Disorders	1834	
	111.2.1	Alcohol: Clinical Relevance	1834	
	111.2.2	Diagnosis	1838	
	111.2.3	Treatment and Prevention	1843	
111.3	Tobacco	Dependency, Nicotine Use Disorder (NUD)	1846	
111.4	Opioids .		1848	
	111.4.1	Clinical Relevance	1848	
	111.4.2	Perioperative	1849	
111.5	Cocaine			
	111.5.1	Clinic	1851	
	111.5.2	Therapy	1851	
	111.5.3	Urgent and Emergency Intervention	1851	
	111.5.4	Elective Procedure	1852	
111.6	Other Drugs			
	111.6.1	Stimulants, Entactogens, and Hallucinogens	1853	
	111.6.2	Treatment of Acute Intoxications	1853	
	111.6.3	Elective Procedure	1854	
111.7	Cannabis		1854	
111.8	GABAergic Substances			
111.9	Conclusi	on	1855	
References				

The list of references was limited to 70 citations. We acknowledge a multitude of additional contributions that are not mentioned here. This paper reflects also some of the work of many other colleagues in this understudied field.

T. Neumann (⊠) • C. Spies

Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Campus Charité Mitte and Campus Virchow-Klinikum, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany e-mail: tim.neumann@charite.de; Claudia.Spies@charite.de

#### Abstract

Patients with substance use disorders are seen frequently in perioperative settings. It has been estimated that every third patient undergoing surgery is smoking; every fifth patient has alcohol use disorders such as hazardous use, abuse, harmful consumption, or dependence; every tenth patient is alcohol dependent; and every twelfth patient is consuming drugs regularly. Many patients use more than one substance regularly. Substance use disorders do vary in severity. Substance use is associated with significant somatic and psychiatric morbidity. Perioperative complications occur more often, even if underlying pathophysiological changes are subclinical. As an example, bleeding time can be prolonged, infection rate can be increased, cardiopulmonary complications can occur, or wound healing can be impaired even without clinical signs of, e.g., manifest liver cirrhosis and cardiovascular or lung disease. Patients with substance use disorders can safely undergo procedures under anesthesia. There are a variety of evidencebased treatment options to treat or prevent complications related to substance use. By secondary or tertiary preventive measures in a multimodal interdisciplinary concept, the increased risk can be significantly reduced. Elements are systematic screening, including the use of questionnaires and biomarkers, systematic diagnostic evaluation, brief interventions, tailored advice and information, patient-centered communication, tailored anesthesia, detoxification, abstinence, rehabilitation, psychosocial therapy, stepped care, monitoring of withdrawal symptoms, and prevention of withdrawal symptoms with pharmacological substitution therapy, monitoring and prevention of complications, goal-oriented therapy, symptom control, stress reduction, prevention of secondary injury, complex interdisciplinary treatment strategies, and teaching and training of the staff.

# 111.1 Introduction

Patients with substance use disorders (SUD) are seen frequently in perioperative settings. It has been estimated that every third patient undergoing surgery is smoking; every fifth patient has an alcohol use disorders such as hazardous use, abuse, harmful consumption, or dependence; every tenth patient is alcohol dependent; and every twelfth patient is consuming drugs regularly. These patients require medical care more often and more extensively. Substance use is associated with somatic and psychiatric morbidity. Perioperative complications occur more often, even if underlying pathophysiological changes are subclinical. As an example, bleeding time can be prolonged, infection rate can be increased, cardiopulmonary complication can occur, or wound healing can be impaired even without clinical signs of, e.g., manifest liver cirrhosis and cardiovascular or lung disease (Spies et al. 2001b; Tønnesen et al. 2009; Kork et al. 2010).

The term "substance use disorder" describes a continuum ranging from risky use over heavy use, hazardous use, abuse, harmful consumption to dependence. As we observe often similar morbidity among risky users as in dependent patients, it seems to be more appropriate from the clinical point of view to describe relevant perioperative issues in all patients with substance use disorders without focusing on patients with physical dependence, with compulsive drug-seeking behavior, and with tolerance or with withdrawal. For didactic reasons alcohol, nicotine, and drug use disorders are described in distinct chapters as usual. However, many patients use more than one substance regularly.

In contrast to many other medical conditions, patients with SUD do often not get adequate treatment in the perioperative context. This has been related to underreporting and underasking. A variety of factors have been described: stigma or fear of stigma, lack of time and resources, lack of training, projections, and many (false) myths about the origin of these disorders. Early detection of SUD and their associated risk is essential to reduce complications, but an SUD is often suspected after complications occurred (Spies et al. 2001b; Runge et al. 2001; Tønnesen et al. 2009; Kork et al. 2010). Intoxication or acute delirium can interfere with the clinical presentation of other severe conditions (e.g., traumatic brain injury and alcohol intoxication, delirium, and thiamine deficiency). Therefore, the evaluation of all patients with SUD requires well-directed and proactive diagnostic approaches (Neumann and Spies 2003).

Many pathophysiological changes and organ dysfunctions in relation to substance use are potentially reversible by abstinence. The extent of recovery depends on the progression of the disease (Tønnesen et al. 2009).

The patient-doctor interaction is somehow different from what is seen in addiction centers. Patients undergoing surgery are usually expecting to receive the best surgery with a minimal risk, but are not actually seeking treatment for SUD. A comprehensive preoperative risk assessment is standard and substance use is a risk factor. Risks and risk-reducing options are discussed in order to reach informed consent. Most patients found alcohol intervention relevant in relation to surgery. Therefore, all steps should be explained to patients in their own language. Patient preferences should be explored. A working alliance should be established. The FRAMES concept (feedback, responsibility, advice, menu of behavioral changes, empathy, self-efficacy) summarizes useful elements of the communication. Patients with relevant psychiatric (co)morbidity should be seen by a psychiatrist (Spies et al. 2006b; Kork et al. 2010; Lau et al. 2011; Pedersen et al. 2011).

When a SUD is suspected, a brief intervention should be offered. Interventions like motivational interviewing are directive non-confronting and ambivalence accepting. Bridging into specific treatment can be appropriate. Open issues in this context are optimal strategies for communication, shared decision making, and psychoeducation including training and implementation of substance use medicine in the surgical facilities. The optimal architecture of a stepped care system is of great interest and might differ between health systems (VA/DoD 2009; NICE 24 2010; NICE 100 2010; NICE 115 2010; Spies et al. 2006b; Kork et al. 2010; Lange et al. 2011).

There is a risk of relapse ("drug reinstatement") in rehabilitated patients with a history of substance use and dependency after stressful events such as trauma or surgery. Therefore, these patients should benefit from a careful and emphatic psychoeducation. They might need support also by addiction medicine professionals at some time after the event. This should be planned early.

As science and the health care develop rapidly, it is highly recommended to familiarize with today's guidelines ("systematically developed statements to assist physicians and, if necessary, other healthcare professionals and patients with decisions about appropriate health care in specific clinical circumstances") as only a systematic, formal, and group consensus approach is able to catch up with the developments in the field (Woolf et al. 1999).

# 111.2 Substance Use Disorders

# 111.2.1 Alcohol: Clinical Relevance

One of ten hospitalized surgical patients suffers from alcohol dependency; two might have an alcohol use disorder, and if they undergo surgery, they have more complications and length of stay is longer (Spies et al. 2001).

Among some patient groups, even higher rates of heavy drinking or alcohol dependency were reported: more than 25 % in patients with injury and 50 % of patients with aerodigestive system cancer. There is a variety in the clinical presentation of alcohol use-related morbidity in the different settings (e.g., younger trauma patient vs. older cancer patient vs. patients admitted for detoxification). Programs offered for the rehabilitation of addicted patients after detoxification might not attract other patient groups, e.g., young trauma patients. Even patients with addictions are rarely seen by addiction specialists, but frequently come in contact with health professionals in surgical or emergency units (Spies et al. 1996a, b, 2001b; Neumann et al. 2006; Neumann and Spies 2003).

AUD patients have a higher somatic and psychiatric morbidity: Postoperative or posttraumatic complications rate is two- to fivefolds higher. Chronic heavy drinking affects various systems as the nervous system, the cardiovascular system, the liver, the muscle, and the stress response and the immune system. The direct toxic effect of alcohol might be aggravated by malnutrition. Alcohol promotes carcinogenesis.

It has been consistently shown that patients who report heavy daily drinking (i.e., >60 g of alcohol) have an increased postoperative morbidity and more complications with increased postoperative healthcare use, including longer stays in the hospital and ICU and more second operations. Postoperative or posttraumatic morbidity is two- to fivefold increased: Infections and sepsis, cardiac complications (arrhythmia, congestive heart failure), bleeding and secondary hemorrhage, "acute respiratory distress syndrome" (ARDS), other surgical complications, alcohol withdrawal syndrome, and death occur more often. Therefore, length of stay is prolonged; requirement for critical care is increased. Also postoperative healthcare use is increased. Hospital and ICU stay is prolonged. Secondary operations are more often required. Already a consumption of more than two drinks a day has been associated in some reports with an increased risk. Interestingly, when diagnosing

dependency, information about consumption is not required (Tønnesen et al. 1992, 2009; Spies and Rommelspacher 1999; Spies et al. 1996a, b, 2001b; Moss and Burnham 2006; NICE 115 2011; Rubinsky et al. 2012).

#### 111.2.1.1 The Scope of the Problem

Critically ill alcoholic patients are more likely to develop serious **infections** than nonalcoholic patients, especially nosocomial pneumonia, sepsis, wound, and urinary tract infections. Chronic alcohol abuse is also associated with an increase of ARDS (acute respiratory distress syndrome) and the severity of MODS (multiple organ dysfunction syndrome) in patients with septic shock.

Immune functions are altered by chronic heavy drinking. Stress response to surgical trauma induced by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA axis) is augmented in AUD patients. A hypercorticolism was observed after surgical stress. Not only was hypercorticolism associated with complications, but a therapeutical suppression of the hypercorticolism at the level of the HPA axis reduced complications (Spies et al. 2006a). The skin response of the delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) is already reduced after surgical trauma due to associated stress. However, among alcoholic patients who undergo surgery, the DTH response was already reduced preoperatively compared with nondrinkers, and this impairment was exaggerated to a significantly larger extent postoperatively. This corresponds to other findings: Preoperatively, the T helper 1 to T helper 2 cells ratio is depressed in longterm alcoholic patients. This is predictive of later onset of infections. It remains suppressed after surgery. Postoperatively, the cytotoxic lymphocyte (Tc1/Tc2) ratio is also decreased in long-term alcoholic patients and remains depressed for 5 days. Correspondingly, the interleukin (IL)-6/IL-10 ratio and the lipopolysaccharidestimulated interferon/IL-10 ratio in whole blood cells are decreased after surgery in long-term alcoholic patients. These anti-inflammatory changes in the postoperative period are predictive of subsequent postoperative infections.

Many other alterations of specific and nonspecific immune defense are reported that contribute next to other factors (e.g., smoking or aspiration) to the increased infection rate (Tønnesen et al. 1992, 1999; Spies et al. 2001b, 2004, 2006a; Sander et al. 2002; Moss and Burnham 2006; Lau et al. 2009).

**Wound healing** is impaired in heavy drinkers. Collagen and total protein accumulation in wound granulation tissue was impaired in treatment-seeking alcoholic patients, and proline and total protein increased significantly after 8 weeks of abstinence (Tønnesen et al. 1992, 1999, 2012; Spies et al. 1996a, b, 2001b).

The coagulation system can be affected even without clinical relevant alcoholic liver disease mainly by an altered thrombocyte function. Bleeding time can be prolonged. Beneficial effects of low-dose alcohol on cardiovascular disease have been related to these effects (Spies et al. 2001a; Tønnesen et al. 2009).

Heavy drinking can induce **cardiomyopathy**. A reduced ejection fraction can be found, which is often subclinical. However, heart rate can be increased and arrhythmias occur more often perioperatively. Cardiac morbidity is also increased due to arterial hypertension and the impact of smoking (Tønnesen et al. 1992, 1999; Spies et al. 1996a, b, 2001a, b, 2006a).

Table 111.1 Differential	T	Infections
diagnosis of delirium or alcohol withdrawal	W	Withdrawal
syndrome: "I WATCH	A	Acute metabolic
DEATH" (Adapted from Spies and Rommelspacher	Т	Trauma
	С	CNS
1999)	Н	Hypoxia
	D	Deficiencies
	E	Endocrinopathy
	A	Acute vascular
	Т	Toxins/drugs
	Н	Heavy metals

**Stress** due to surgery and trauma, infection, or withdrawal has a wide range of effects. Next to the abovementioned immune suppression changes in body fluid composition, electrolytes, catecholamines, and hormones are relevant (Tønnesen et al. 1992, 1999, 2009; Spies et al. 1996a, b, 2001a, b; Neumann and Spies 2003; Moss and Burnham 2006).

Alcohol is **neurotoxic**. In higher dosage/doses it affects the central and the peripheral including the autonomic nervous system. It alters neuronal transmission. It induces tolerance and withdrawal. Alcohol use is also associated with neurotrauma. There are many reasons for cognitive impairment or delirium or "acute brain dysfunction" in emergency or critically ill patients with alcohol use disorders. In acute situations, other reasons for delirium (e.g., infection, trauma, or others) are often misinterpreted as intoxication or alcohol withdrawal syndrome (Table 111.1). The clinical presentation of critically ill patients with a history of alcohol and/or drug misuse may differ from other patients. Delayed diagnosis of AUDs or related comorbidity (e.g., alcohol intoxication and head trauma, withdrawal state, vitamin deficiencies, drug use, significant psychiatric disorders, infections, etc.) may have severe consequences (Tønnesen et al. 1992, 1999, 2012; Spies et al. 1996a, b, 1999, 2001b; Neumann and Spies 2003; Moss and Burnham 2006; NICE 115 2011).

**Wernicke's encephalopathy** should be suspected in all clinical conditions which could lead to thiamine deficiency, and intravenous thiamine (before any carbohydrate, 200 mg thrice daily) is indicated in these patients. It is often undiagnosed during lifetime. For diagnosis, two of the following four signs are required (EFNS guidelines, Galvin et al. 2010): dietary deficiencies, eye signs, cerebellar dysfunction, and either altered mental state or mild memory impairment. Total thiamine in blood sample should be measured prior to thiamine administration, if possible. MRI should be used to support the diagnosis of acute WE.

**Re-trauma** rate was also higher compared to patients without AUD. Trauma has, therefore, been described as a recurrent disease (Neumann et al. 2004, 2006).

#### 111.2.1.2 Alcohol Intoxication

Alcohol is a central nervous system depressant. The clinical presentation of the alcohol intoxication ranges therefore from symptoms due to disinhibition like euphoria and agitation to a more global depression such as coma. Alcohol intoxication is potentially life threatening due to respiratory insufficiency, respiratory failure, aspiration, electrolyte disorders, rhabdomyolysis, hypoglycemia, temperature deregulation, and cardiovascular depression, with tachycardia and hypotension. The risk of trauma is high while intoxicated. A delayed diagnosis and treatment of other critical conditions such as trauma add to the high risk of alcohol intoxication (Neumann et al. 2003; Moss and Burnham 2006; NICE 100 2010; NICE 115 2011; NICE 24 2010).

#### 111.2.1.3 Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome

AWS is still a potentially life-threatening state. About half of all alcoholic patients in intensive care undergo an untreated alcohol withdrawal syndrome. It occurs frequently in intensive care patients after reduction of the sedation. The range and severity of the symptoms of alcohol withdrawal varies: cognitive thought disorder, hallucinations, convulsions, and sympathetic hyperactivity resulting from the imbalance of various excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitter systems. The alcohol withdrawal syndrome is typically a diagnosis of exclusion. First signs are autonomic symptoms such as sweating, tremor, nausea, anxiety, and restlessness. Grand mal seizures can occur. Delirium tremens is characterized by spatial and temporal disorientations, hallucinosis, ataxia, tremor, and autonomic dysfunction. Many conditions can mimic AWS or might occur concomitant. Other disorders associated with delirium should be quickly ruled out or treated, including hemorrhage, metabolic disorders, infection, intoxication, hypoxia, pain, or focal neurological lesions. Mortality is related to the quality of the treatment: 15 % mortality when untreated vs. 2 % mortality when treated (Spies et al. 1996a, b, 1999, 2001a, b, 2003; Moss and Burnham 2006; Bråthen et al. 2005; NICE 100 2010; NICE 115 2011; NICE 24 2010; Awissi et al. 2013; Ungur et al. 2013).

#### 111.2.1.4 Gastrointestinal/Metabolism

The **GI system** is impacted by alcohol in many ways: parenchymal liver injury (reduced synthesis, reduced enzyme activities, portal hypertension), hepatitis, gastritis, pancreatitis, enteral translocation, anorexia, malnutrition (substrates, vitamins, etc.), ulcers, gastrointestinal bleeding, autonomous dysregulation, and malnutrition.

Pharmacodynamic or pharmacokinetic interactions, increased toxicity of medication, and altered metabolism are complex and beyond the scope of this chapter. Chronic alcohol use alters metabolism (e.g., cytochrome P450 2E1 induction resulting in increased toxicity of paracetamol) or neurotransmitter function (e.g., alcohol and narcotics interfere on GABA receptor function). Clinicians use the manufacturer's information.

#### 111.2.2 Diagnosis

#### 111.2.2.1 Diagnosis

An early diagnosis is essential. However, the prevalence of AUD is consistently underestimated, particularly in women and younger patients: One out of 14 patients was diagnosed with AUD by an anesthesiologist during the preoperative assessment, but with a computerized questionnaire, detection rate was one out of six patients (Kip et al. 2008).

The diagnosis of an AUD is based on the synopsis of medical and substance use-related history, physical examination, and on self-report (like structured interviews such as questionnaires), if available. More information is provided by paraclinical findings (laboratory, imaging) and collateral information. In intubated and analgosedated or in emergency situations, patients' self-report might not be available. Markers are helpful when self-report is not available or valid, e.g., after trauma. A complication might be the trigger for considering an AUD. The information from markers of acute and chronic alcohol consumption as well as indices of alcohol consumption-related changes in organ function (e.g., liver enzymes, metabolic indices, immune dysfunction) can add further information. Patients might have an extra benefit from anonymous and confidential programs parallel to the routine patient care (Neumann and Spies 2003).

#### 111.2.2.2 Questionnaires

Systematic screening with questionnaires is recommended, e.g., with the ten-item Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). The AUDIT was designed to cover a range of AUD severity from risky use to dependence. The full AUDIT asks next to the three consumption questions (AUDIT-C) also for indicators of addiction (three questions) and about alcohol use-related negative consequences (four questions). The ten AUDIT questions sum up to a score between 0 and 40 points. The test is considered as positive once more than 8 points are counted; however, lower cutoffs for women (e.g., 5 points) have been recommended. Lower cutoffs can increase sensitivity. Every combination of answers resulting in at least 5 points reflects at least one alcohol use-related problem. It takes about 2 min to apply the AUDIT in paper-and-pencil or computerized versions. The use of a computerized version detected much more patients in a preanesthetic clinic compared to the clinical routine (Neumann et al. 2004, 2006; Kip et al. 2008; VA/DoD 2009; NICE 24 2010).

The three-item "AUDIT-Consumption" questions (AUDIT-C) can be a shorter alternative. It provides a rough quantity x frequency estimate plus one question addressing binging (five or more drinks/occasion). It was found to be clinically useful. An increased AUDIT-C (>8 points) up to a year before surgery has been clearly associated with postoperative complications. A cutoff of 4 points (men) and 3 points (women) of the AUDIT-C was recommended for screening; however, this corresponds also to patterns of low-risk alcohol use like small amounts of alcohol with a meal (VA/DoD 2009; Neumann et al. 2004; Kip et al. 2008; NICE 24 2010; Bradley et al. 2011; Rubinsky et al. 2012). The NIAAA (see Fig. 111.1)

General algorithm and clinical pathway for patients with substance use disorders Structured AUD, NUD and DUD screening

- Do you drink alcohol? yes:
  - Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT), or
  - o abbreviated version, AUDIT-C or
  - NIAAA screen for risky drinking e.g. How many times in the past year have you had...
    - -5 or more drinks in a day (men)
    - -4 or more drinks in a day (women) (One standard drink = 12-14g in the (US)
  - Plus CAGE (if dependence is of interest)
- Do you consume drugs, yes:
  - DSM-IV criteria or ICD criteria
- Do you smoke? Yes
  - Fagerström

If questionnaire results are negative, history not available, questionnaire screening not applicable or reliable and patient undergoing major surgery, critical ill etc.

- Consider collateral information
- Consider the use of markers Laboratory testing: AUD: CDT, GGT, MCV, EtG, Peth NUD: CO-Hb, Cotinin DUD: substance or metabolite testi
- DUD: substance or metabolite testing in urine, saliva or blood (depending on substance)
- Comprehensive assessment of comorbidity

If patient is positive

- Synopsis of clinical findings (Screening, history, physical examination, questionnaires, marker, collateral information) =>
- Diagnosis (ICD 10, DSM 4/5) =>
- Consider and discuss specific interventions, include the informed patient into the decision making process (shared decision making), psychoeducation, if appropriate Prophylactic, preventive Intervention =>
  - O (Preventive) treatment
    - Pharmacological withdrawal prophylaxis,
    - Substitution,
    - Stress reduction...
    - Treatment (e.g. AWS, detoxification, rehab, self help groups...)
    - Abstinence
  - Risk communication,
    - brief Interventions, e.g. Motivational Interviewing
      - FRAMES
        - Feedback
        - Responsibility
        - Advice
        - Menu of behavioral change
        - Empathy
          - Self efficacy
- Monitor for complications
- Monitor for continuous risky/unrisky use

If preventive treatment not necessary:

- Inform, endorse, confirm
- Maintenance or supportive therapy in former substance users,
- · Reevaluation of substance use screening negative patients in special medical conditions

AUD, alcohol use disorder; DUD, drug use disorder; NUD, nicotine use disorder (adop. and modified from Kork et al. 2010).

Fig. 111.1 General algorithm and clinical pathway for patients with substance use disorders

recommended the "Single-Item Alcohol Screening Questionnaire" as a screener (VA/DoD 2009).

CAGE ("cut down," "annoyance," "guilt," and "eye opener") is a four-item questionnaire. It is brief and easy to remember. The strength is detection of patients with dependence, but the sensitivity for risky, nondependent use has been considered as too low. Interestingly, the CAGE questionnaire can be used as a self-assessment tool (may be used in addition to an appropriate screening method to increase patient's awareness to unhealthy use or abuse of alcohol) (Neumann and Spies 2003; NICE 24 2010; VA/DoD 2009).

#### 111.2.2.3 Laboratory

Biomedical markers may provide additive, objective information about acute or recent consumption, intoxication, relapse, heavy drinking, hazardous or harmful alcohol use, or possible use-related organ dysfunctions. Biomarkers cannot differentiate between AUD with and without dependency. So far, no single laboratory test (e.g., for acute abuse, alcohol in blood or breath; for abstinence, metabolites such as ethyl glucuronide (EtG); for chronic heavy drinking, gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT), mean corpuscular volume of red blood cells (MCV), carbohydrate-deficient transferrin (CDT), phosphatidylethanol (PEth)) is reliable enough on its own to support the diagnosis of an AUD. In the clinical context, they can add important information, especially when questionnaires are not applicable or reliable. As laboratory parameters for alcohol abuse, MCV,  $\gamma$ -GT, and CDT are used. Sensitivity of the markers (e.g., MCV 34-89 %, γ-GT 34-85 %, CDT 12 or less -94 %) as well as specificity (MCV 26–91 %, y-GT 11–95 %, CDT 82–100 %) can vary considerably according to gender, age, setting, drinking pattern and prevalence of more severe AUD, the prevalence of comorbidity, and the AUD criterion used. Markers of increased alcohol consumption can also be increased by nonalcoholic organ damage, e.g., non-alcoholic liver disease (Neumann and Spies 2003; Hannuksela et al. 2007; Neumann et al. 2009).

Phosphatidylethanol (Peth) is formed only in the presence of alcohol. It has reported sensitivities of 97–99 % and specificity of 100 % when differing heavy drinkers (60 g/day of alcohol and much more) from controls. However, the cutoff is not clear yet and Peth is not yet part of clinical routine. More research is needed to establish the role of this marker of chronic heavy drinking. Storage can be problematic, relevant in vitro formation and degradation has been described (Hannuksela et al. 2007; Niemela 2007 CCA).

Sensitivity of markers can be lower, when patients reduce their alcohol consumption preoperatively. Another reason for false-negative findings are blood loss and volume replacement in critically ill patients (e.g., after severe trauma; therefore, sampling of the blood should be done as early as possible, e.g., at admission or in the resuscitation room) (Spies et al. 2001; Hannuksela et al. 2007; Neumann et al. 2003).

Sensitivities, specificities, and predictive values vary considerably between the studies according to patient and control group characteristics and differing alcoholism criteria (Neumann and Spies 2003). In patient groups with a high prevalence

of severe AUDs, in older patients, and in patients with a continuous daily consumption (in contrast to occasional binge drinking), the sensitivity is usually higher, whereas comorbidity might interfere with specificity (Neumann and Spies 2003).

Percent CDT (CDT/total transferrin ratio) levels were elevated in patients drinking 50–80 g/day or more. Elevated values were found also among patients with end-stage liver disease and genetic variants. Total CDT levels are additionally affected by factors that raise transferrin levels such as iron deficiency, chronic illnesses, and menopausal status. The roles of female gender, low body mass index, chronic inflammatory diseases, and medication on CDT levels require further study. Sensitivity can be lower in women and patients with episodic heavy drinking or cutting down for some time and acute blood loss. Therefore, CDT should be determined early after admission (Neumann and Spies 2003). Early sampling in the emergency room and before volume resuscitation increased the sensitivity from 65 % to 74 % for CDT. Complication rate was increased in trauma patients with increased CDT (increased CDTect, absolute CDT values, Spies et al. (1998), discussed in Neumann and Spies 2003; %CDT, McKinzie et al. 2010).

Furthermore, the determination of markers of acute consumption (alcohol in blood, urine, breath) or markers of recent use (e.g., ethyl glucuronide, ethyl sulfate, urinary 5-HTOL/HIAA) can add important information of recent consumption and hangover. Blood, breath, or urine alcohol is detectable for several hours; however, metabolites are detectable for longer (e.g., EtG up to 80 h) even after consuming smaller amounts. They can be used to monitor abstinence (e.g., in obstetrics or liver transplantation). Alcohol consumption in the evening before surgery is related to postoperative morbidity. These biomarkers are usually not available as a point-of-care application except breath alcohol. There are unsolved methodological issues concerning cutoffs and possible reasons for false positives. Therefore, markers cannot be used without the clinical context (Neumann and Spies 2003; Hanunksela et al. 2007).

The determination of the blood alcohol concentration (BAC) is considered as standard in trauma care: Between 16 % and 39 % of trauma victims were BAC positive on admission, and 55–75 % of injured patients who were BAC positive had an alcohol abuse or dependence diagnosis. However, a substantial number of trauma patients with AUDs (11–45 %) are BAC negative (Runge et al. 2001; Neumann et al. 2003). A high blood alcohol concentration indicates tolerance, which itself is linked to dependence. Alcohol metabolites such as ethyl glucuronide may be used for monitoring abstinence since they can be detected for a longer period than alcohol from blood or urine. So far some promising markers are not available as a point-of-care application (Neumann and Spies 2003).

Other indices of altered organ function (e.g., liver enzymes, metabolic indices, immune function parameters) might add valuable information. These surrogate markers give valuable insights into the impact of AU on organ function (e.g., immune response) and might guide therapeutical interventions, but are not considered as alcohol abuse markers per se (Neumann and Spies 2003; Spies et al. 2004, 2006; Lau et al. 2009).

#### 111.2.2.4 Screening and Diagnosis

All patients should be screened for AUD in a systematic approach in order to detect those patients who might benefit from evidence-based strategies to minimize the risk for a complicated perioperative clinical course. The use of an alcoholismrelated questionnaire is recommended.

If self-report is not possible, not reliable, or negative, markers and collateral information should be used. All patients:

- Scoring positive (AUDIT: men  $\geq$  8/women  $\geq$  5).
- Scoring below the cutoff in a questionnaire or from those where a reliable history and/or questionnaire cannot be taken **and** with one or more positive biomarkers should undergo further assessment (Kip et al. 2008; Kork et al. 2010).

Confirmatory assessment includes a history of alcohol and substance use and consumption pattern, comorbidity, and the criteria for hazardous use or dependence (DSM/ICD); however, absence of earlier withdrawal symptoms does not exclude the possibility of an exaggerated stress response or withdrawal. Patients screened positive for AUD should further be evaluated in an interdisciplinary approach.

A clinically relevant alcohol abuse is defined in operative medicine as an intake of  $\geq 60$  g/day of alcohol; however, risky consumption has been defined as 30 g/day (men) or 20 g/day (women). High-risk patients with two or more positive biomarkers from different pathophysiological backgrounds are obvious candidates for preventive strategies (Neumann and Spies 2003; Tønnesen et al. 2009; Spies et al. 2001).

Consulting a specialist in substance abuse may be appropriate in order to provide advice on how to reduce long-term risk, e.g., to achieve abstinence. All patients being considered for high-risk surgery or having had a trauma should be offered counseling focusing on risk factors in relation to the operative treatment, diagnosis, and prognosis (e.g., in the preanesthetic evaluation). Alcohol is a risk factor. Especially in patients consuming 60 g of alcohol or more daily, options (e.g., remain abstinent for up to 4 weeks before elective surgery or receive preventive perioperative pharmacological prophylaxis targeting the stress response or withdrawal) should be discussed. Information and feedback on any pathological finding-associated alcohol consumption may contribute to the diagnosis. The patient-oriented communication style is ambivalence accepting, not confrontive, emphatic, but directive; one aim is a working alliance with the patient. It includes a feedback and advice about the risks and opportunities and it addresses patient's responsibility. Through these (brief) interventions longer-term changes in motivation might be achieved (Spies and Rommelspacher 1999; Neumann and Spies 2003; Neumann et al. 2004, 2006; Tønnesen et al. 1999, 2009).

One has to be aware that some patients are under triple stress during the evaluation: an operation, an AUD diagnosis, and the fear of stigma. Waiting patiently and reevaluating later can be an option. Approaching patients three times instead of one time before surgery doubled detection rate. The combination of laboratory markers and the CAGE questionnaire and up to three consultations can increase the detection rate from 16 % by clinical routine alone to 91 % in

surgical patients scheduled for upper digestive tract surgery (Martin et al. 2002). Markers might be used also as biofeedback. The patient might have a benefit to learn about the risk associated with a positive marker and the gain in health, when the marker normalizes (Neumann and Spies 2003). More research is needed to determine the value of biomarkers in the context of clinical decision-making algorithms.

#### 111.2.3 Treatment and Prevention

#### 111.2.3.1 Screening and BI

A brief intervention should be delivered at the point of care to all AUD patients, e.g., in the preanesthetic clinic. This approach is recommended by current guidelines. A consistent reduction of alcohol consumption by brief interventions was reported in primary health care, mainly in men. Also brief interventions were generally effective in hospital patients; however, some inconsistency was observed, especially in emergency settings (NICE 24 2010; NICE 115 2010; VA/DoD 2009). Effective screening and brief intervention strategy (feedback, advice, tailored information) can be provided by computer in many clinical settings (Neumann et al. 2006; Kip et al. 2008; Lange et al. 2011). A computerized questionnaire and brief report on lifestyle issues for surgical patients is available as a tool for quality management in Germany. It is applied by the German Anaesthesiological and Intensive Care Society (current access: http://www.dgai-lsa.de; username: HAI2008; password: dgai; Kork et al. 2010).

#### 111.2.3.2 Choice of Anesthetics

Anesthetics should be given according to the clinical effect. As alcohol and inhalation agents as well as hypnotics work synergistically on the GABA<sub>A</sub> and on other receptors (NMDA, glycine) in intoxicated patients, a dose reduction is necessary as well as an increase in dosage in the withdrawal state. Muscle relaxants that are metabolized hepatically might have a prolonged effect in patients with a hepatic insufficiency; neuromuscular monitoring is recommended. Alternatives would be atracurium and cis-atracurium as relaxants. Alcohol consumption is not a contraindication for the use of inhalational anesthetics. Sevoflurane is normally metabolized to <5% in the liver. However, also the induction of CYP2E1 could lead to an increased formation of plasma fluorides. Due to the small intrarenal metabolism of sevoflurane, nephrotoxic effects are not expected, but there are no studies on AUD patients at risk.

Regional anesthesia should be used only in patients able to cooperate and with adequate vigilance. The coagulation should be monitored and a careful history of coagulation disorders and medication that interferes with the coagulation should be obtained. Limitation for regional method is agitation of the patient and the lack of protection of the respiratory tract. In the phase of intoxication, regional procedures are contraindicated (Klotz and Ammon 1998; Neumann et al. 2003).

#### 111.2.3.3 PACU

The patient can be transferred from the recovery room to the ward when sufficiently vigilant, cardiopulmonary stable, and pain-free. Monitoring for delirium is recommended (NuDesc, DDS, CIWAr). Regular monitoring includes the acid-base balance, electrolyte levels, and blood glucose levels. Hypokalemia and hypomagnesemia can occur during the early withdrawal. Inadequate drainage losses can be a sign of a coagulation dysfunction. In patients sobering up, acetaminophen should be used with caution (Martin et al. 2010; Spies et al. 1999, 2003; Otter et al. 2005; Riordan and Williams 2002; Moss and Burnham 2006).

#### 111.2.3.4 Postoperative Treatment

It is not possible to draw a clear line between prevention and treatment of alcohol withdrawal syndrome. Both prophylaxis and treatment should be carried out symptom-guided in time (Spies and Rommelspacher 1999; Spies et al. 2003). All patients are therefore closely monitored by means of the "Revised Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment for Alcohol Scale" to monitor or compare scores used in intensive care (e.g., CAM-ICU, DDS, Lütz et al. 2010; Martin et al. 2010; Otter et al. 2005).

#### 111.2.3.5 Therapy of Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome

The diagnosis of an alcohol withdrawal syndrome can be made if other causes of delirium or complications such as bleeding, metabolic dysfunction, infections, ischemia/hypoxia, pain, or focal neurological symptoms are excluded (Table 111.1). Patient's history or laboratory tests should indicate an AUD. Alcohol withdrawal syndrome should be treated early. The severity of AWS in critically ill surgical or trauma patients as reflected by CIWA-Ar, however, is several times higher in ICU patients compared to psychiatric patients. The complex interactions between anesthesia, postoperative stress, trauma, infections, and other factors may enhance imbalances of transmitter systems and require a more effective therapy. The symptoms have to be closely monitored (Awissi et al. 2013; Moss and Burnham 2006; Martin et al. 2010; Spies and Rommelspacher 1999; Spies et al. 2003; Ungur et al. 2013).

If an alcohol withdrawal syndrome occurs, the use of more than one drug should be considered. Treatment should be symptom oriented: for agitation and seizures, benzodiazepines (first substance of choice, e.g., lorazepam, diazepam); for autonomic hyperactivity, alpha-2 agonists (clonidine or dexmedetomidine); and for hallucinations or productive-psychotic symptoms, neuroleptics according to the underlying transmitter imbalances: GABAergic (e.g., benzodiazepines, clomethiazole), dopaminergic (e.g., haloperidol), and noradrenergic system (e.g., clonidine). Dosage should be adjusted to the patient's clinical condition. Ethanol is obsolete in the manifest withdrawal state (Amato et al. 2011; Awissi et al. 2013; Spies and Rommelspacher 1999; Spies et al. 2003; Ungur et al. 2013).

Any delay or inadequacy of therapy may worsen symptoms. In contrast to a fixed-dose treatment, symptom-oriented treatment using a scoring system reduces time of treatment, can shorten the clinical course of AWS, and can reduce morbidity use of medication, complication rates, time of ventilator support, and length of ICU stay when compared to a preassigned and fixed treatment plan. Different scores can be used in order to monitor delirium and to guide therapy. CIWA-Ar score was validated for normal wards, whereas the Delirium Detection Score (DDS) was validated for the ICU setting (Otter et al. 2005; Spies et al. 2003; Moss and Burnham 2006; Martin et al. 2010; Awissi et al. 2013; Ungur et al. 2013).

If simultaneously clonidine and haloperidol are used in the treatment of alcohol withdrawal syndrome, hypokalemia and hypomagnesemia should be avoided, as this can cause QT prolongation and arrhythmias. Clonidine can cause hypotension, bradycardia, AV block, and constipation. Electrolyte disorders should be treated, especially hypokalemia and hypomagnesemia (Moss and Burnham 2006; Spies and Rommmelspacher 1999).

#### 111.2.3.6 Prophylaxis

Drugs used to prevent withdrawal are benzodiazepines, clomethiazole (per os), clonidine, and haloperidol or risperidon, usually in dosages that are lower than used for treatment. If indicated, a long-acting benzodiazepine can be given the evening before surgery (e.g., lorazepam) for premedication and a short-acting benzodiazepine in the morning of surgery (e.g., midazolam). In patients not adequately premedicated before the induction of anesthesia, midazolam IV can be titrated to the desired effect; additionally clonidine, haloperidol, or ketamine can be given intravenously, if there are no contraindications. The prevention of alcohol withdrawal syndrome on a peripheral ward is usually done with a single substance. Monitoring on the ward is required. If the requirement for monitoring is not met by the ward's resources, the patient must be moved to a monitoring or intensive care unit. It is important to reduce prophylactic dosage after symptom control, as this – in unintended continued treatment – includes even a potential for addiction. Preventive treatment may avoid AWS or attenuate its severity; transition from prevention to treatment is continuous (Spies and Rommmelspacher 1999; Spies et al. 2006).

In alcoholic patients, hypercortisolism can occur postoperatively after surgical stress. Pharmacological intervention by inhibition of the HPA axis (stress prevention) with morphine, low-dose ketoconazole, and ethanol in alcoholic patients could prevent the prolonged cortisol response to surgical stress, compared with placebo, and thus reduce the incidence of infection Spies et al. (2006a). For blockade of the HPA axis and to reduce infectious complications, perioperative infusion of low doses of ethanol (0.5 g/kg/day IV) or low-dose morphine (15  $\mu$ g/kg/h) has been shown to be effective in one study. As this is not a sufficient pain treatment, pain should be monitored by visual analog scale (VAS) or numerical rating scale (NRS) and treated according to evidence-based hospital standards (Spies et al. 2006; Martin et al. 2010).

Perioperative administration of prophylactic medication, especially alcohol, requires an assessment of the motivation regarding a change in alcohol consumption and informed consent after shared decision making. Risk and options are communicated. This communication should have a big overlap with motivational interviewing and change talk (Kork et al. 2010).

#### 111.2.3.7 Treatment of Wernicke's Encephalopathy

Intravenous thiamine (before any carbohydrate, 200 mg thrice daily) is indicated for the treatment of suspected or manifest WE. Oral substitution is initially inadequate. Hypoglycemic patients should receive thiamine latest when administering intravenous glucose (Galvin et al. 2010).

#### 111.2.3.8 Preoperative Abstinence

Pathophysiological dysfunctions due to heavy drinking are potentially reversible. Immune response, stress response, alcoholic cardiomyopathy, bleeding time, frequency of hypoxia, and wound healing improve during abstinence within a time frame of weeks or months (Tønnesen et al. 2009; Spies et al. 2001a).

Two studies from Denmark (one among nondependent alcohol consumers (60–420 g/day) undergoing radical colorectal resection patients and one that included elective hip arthroplasty patients) showed an effect of 4-week preoperative abstinence and psychosocial counseling combined with disulfiram substitution on the overall complication rates including infection rate. Postoperative morbidity was reduced from 74 % to 31 % after colorectal surgery. There was no significant reduction of in-hospital and 30-day mortality (Tønnesen et al. 2009; Oppedal et al. 2012).

#### 111.2.3.9 Addiction and Psychosocial Treatment

The alcohol-dependent patient should be seen early by an addiction specialist. The indication of ambulatory or inpatient detoxification before or after surgery should be evaluated. Alcohol-dependent patients may profit from anti-craving medication such as acamprosate, naltrexone, or alcohol deterrent medication such as disulfiram. Naltrexone can interfere with postsurgical pain therapy, if opioids are indicated. One large multicentre study by Anton et al. (2006) underlined the importance of medical management (Spies and Rommelspacher 1999; Anton et al. 2006; Tønnesen et al. 2009; Kork et al. 2010).

# 111.3 Tobacco Dependency, Nicotine Use Disorder (NUD)

As tobacco use is associated with cancer and cardiovascular or pulmonary diseases, smokers are overrepresented among these patients. Accordingly, the incidence of perioperative pulmonary complications, cardiovascular complications, impaired wound healing, and wound infection is increased. Smokers, who continue to smoke until surgery, have a higher two- to sixfold pulmonary morbidity compared to nonsmokers (Bluman et al. 1998; Møller et al. 2002; Tønnesen et al. 2009).

Smoking is usually reported spontaneously. Standardized questionnaires such as the Fagerström Test evaluate degrees of dependency and were used to guide therapy, e.g., nicotine replacement therapy. Different from the construct of the ICD or DSM dependence definition, the number of cigarettes is needed for a positive score (Heatherton et al. 1991).

An established point-of-care biomarker of acute smoking is carbon monoxidehemoglobin (COHb). It is routinely determined in anesthesiology workplaces. CO binds to the hemoglobin and reduces the oxygen binding capacity of the hemoglobin significantly (up to 15 %). This might cause hypoxia even in patients without coronary heart disease and is associated also with wound complications. COHb predisposes for ST-segment depressions in stress situations. In addition, increased nicotine levels are associated with an increased sympathetic activity: There is an increased heart rate, increased blood pressure, and a reduced peripheral blood flow through vasoconstriction. Increased oxygen consumption meets a lowered oxygen supply. The net effect might result in a relative hypoxia. In patients with coronary heart disease, the incidence of myocardial ischemia increases significantly. Patients smoking immediately prior to surgery with elevated expiratory CO concentration (>35 ppm) showed more ST depressions. The half-life of COHb and nicotine is about 12 h, e.g., after abstaining overnight. In cardiac risk patients, an abstinence of 12-48 h reduces perioperative cardiac morbidity. A perioperative smoking cessation of 12-48 h is required (Zwissler and Reither 2005; Neumann et al. 2008; Tønnesen et al. 2009; Kork et al. 2010). COHb in blood was an excellent marker to detect current smoking in trauma patients. The cutoff of COHb should be lowered to 1.6 % in women and to 1.8 % in men (Neumann et al. 2008).

The pulmonary morbidity is two- to sixfold higher in patients smoking until the surgery. In smokers, the lung capacity and ciliary function are reduced; closing capacity is increased. The production of mucus is increased, but the secretion of pulmonary clearance reduced. This can also affect otherwise asymptomatic younger smokers. This is associated with an elevated pulmonary postoperative morbidity. In smoking patients undergoing elective surgery, pulmonary complications were 22 % vs. 5 %. In abdominal surgery, the rate may be even higher. Smokers are more frequently admitted to ICUs than nonsmokers (Zwissler and Reither 2005; Møller et al. 2002; Tønnesen et al. 2009).

Smoking lowers the pressure in the lower esophageal sphincter; however, this effect is fully reversible after 5 min. The emptying of solid but not liquid food particles from the stomach is delayed after smoking. In respect to acute smoking, there is no increased risk of aspiration neither to gastric volume nor to the acidity of the gastric juice. However, smokers experience less postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV) (Zwissler and Reither 2005).

Smoking impacts on the immune function. This leads to an increased risk of infections. The immune system recovers after 2–6 weeks of abstinence from smoking, wound healing after 3–4 weeks, and the lung function after 6–8 weeks (Tønnesen et al. 2009).

More intensive smoking cessation programs are more effective than briefer interventions; however, briefer interventions might bridge the patient into more intensive programs that include nicotine replacement therapy (NRT), CO monitoring, and psychoeducation and counseling about the expected advantages and disadvantages of abstinence, side effects, withdrawal symptoms, diet and exercise, weight gain, and other issues. Six randomized trials have been published that evaluated preoperative smoking cessation with abstinence rates between 40 %

and 89 %. Three studies suggest that preoperative smoking cessation programs of 3–4 and 6–8 weeks duration are beneficial in respect to complications. Shorter periods of abstinence are not disadvantageous. A potential negative effect of a preoperative smoke stop had been reported in retrospective studies with considerable methodological weaknesses. Also postoperatively nicotine replacement is recommended, adapted to the degree of nicotine dependence (Fagerström test) (Bluman et al. 1998; Møller et al. 2002; Lindström et al. 2008; Sørensen and Jørgensen 2003; Tønnesen et al. 2009).

Wound healing is affected by smoking. Collagen production is impaired. The wound infection rate of sacral incisions in 78 volunteers was lower at 4–12 weeks after randomization, compared with smokers without cessation, but not after a week examined. No difference was observed between placebo and patch therapy (Sørensen and Jørgensen 2003; Møller et al. 2002; Tønnesen et al. 2009).

Nicotine represents a cholinergic agent. Therefore, in case of surgery without preoperative abstinence, nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) and other cholinergic agents like physostigmine are an option in these patients as adjunctive for treatment of pain and the potential of saving postoperative opioids. Perioperative NRT initiated before induction of anesthesia and maintained after surgery should be considered. Physostigmine 1.5 mg IV at the end of surgery then 1 mg/h for 24 h can be given as an cholinergic agent and for pain reduction, if no NRT was started. Cholinergic agents are basically emetogenic; PONV prophylaxis might be necessary (Møller et al. 2002; Beilin et al. 2005; Kork et al. 2010).

# 111.4 Opioids

# 111.4.1 Clinical Relevance

Patients with opioid dependency undergoing surgery might be polysubstance users with significant comorbidity or chronic pain patients treated with opioids. They are at risk for withdrawal. Complex individualized treatment strategies are required. Many patients were seen in emergency facilities. The effects of opioids are enhanced by CNS depressant drugs, e.g., ethanol and GABEergic medication. Respiratory depression (with aspiration (pneumonia), cyanosis, and/or pulmonary edema) and consecutive hypoxia are the most common causes of morbidity and death after acute opioid intoxication. This is associated with ST-segment changes, tachycardic arrhythmias, hypotension and congestive heart failure, and cerebral and spinal ischemia or nerve compression syndromes and muscle damage with consecutive crush syndrome or rhabdomyolysis after immobilization when intoxicated. Patients might suffer from acute and chronic infections including HIV and hepatitis, intravenous and polysubstance drug use-associated bacteriemia, heart valve pathologies, atherosclerosis from smoking, trauma, and psychiatric comorbidity. Peripheral and central venous access is often difficult (Hernandez et al. 2005; Kork et al. 2010). Relevant withdrawal symptoms are tachycardia, diarrhea, hyperhidrosis with dehydration next to mydriasis, and goose bumps.

#### 111.4.2 Perioperative

Opioid-dependent hospital patients should receive a basal substitution ("baseline") with methadone or racemate plus opioids as clinically required for analgesia under the control of the vital signs and withdrawal parameters. Regional anesthesia alone or in combination with general anesthesia, NSAIDs, alpha-2 agonists (clonidine, lofexidine), and ketamine can be considered. Postoperatively, the need for analgesia can be increased in drug-dependent patients. Partial agonists (e.g., buprenorphin) should be avoided. Treatment should be symptomatic, e.g., NSAIDs, alpha2-agonists (clonidine, lofexidine) (APA 2006; Kork et al. 2010).

Clinical signs of over- and underdosage should be observed. Vital signs and symptoms of withdrawal (e.g., Objective and Subjective Opiate Withdrawal Scale, OOWS, SOWS) should be documented regularly. Written bedside standard operating procedures should clearly describe:

- In case of overdose: command breathing; administer oxygen and ventilation, eventually titration of naloxone.
- In underdosing: rescue medication (give opioids).

QTc time (ECG) has to be monitored. Under methadone medication, the QTc time can be prolonged, which is a risk factor for arrhythmias (APA 2006; Kork et al. 2010).

Laxatives (e.g., lactulose) are administered as adjuvant until the stool consistency has normalized. Adequate hydration replaces volume loss in hyperhidrosis (e.g., during withdrawal). Diverse drug interactions must be considered in patients with methadone substitution therapy. Methadone interaction with other medications should be anticipated. Manufacturer's information should be consulted, as enzyme induction (cytochromes) or inhibition concerns a variety of substance, (e.g., antiviral medication, carbamazepine, phenytoin, cimetidine, and rifampicin). Medication with sedating properties (e.g., benzodiazepines) can act synergistically and can cause respiratory depression. Partial antagonists (e.g., buprenorphine) can trigger withdrawal symptoms and are contraindicated in this case. Clonidine and lofexidine attenuate heroin or methadone withdrawal symptoms more effectively than placebo and can be perioperatively or intraoperatively applied once hemodynamic monitoring is available (Hernandez et al. 2005; APA 2006; Gowing et al. 2009; Kork et al. 2010). The pain treatment in former opioid-dependent **patients** is an understudied issue. There are concerns that this may trigger a relapse ("drug reinstatement") when mu agonists (or other psychoactive drugs) are potentially indicated in the perioperative period. Regional anesthesia or general anesthesia combining inhalation anesthetics with N2O, ketamine, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs is not always possible. If indicated, titration of adequate amounts of a short-acting  $\mu$ -agonist can be necessary; alpha-2 agonists can relieve withdrawal symptoms. Patients should be carefully informed (e.g., about craving) and educated about the small but relevant risk of relapse. This should be documented, and written informed consent should be obtained. Possible treatment options should be discussed, including post-hospital psychosocial and medical care. Any relapse is a potentially life-threatening situation. Opioid-related death occurs

often in former users. Some patients seem to be unaware of the decreased tolerance and use opioids in usual doses. Patients should be educated about these phenomena (Kork et al. 2010).

In the first days of the postoperative period, opioid substitution therapy is continued. In addition, opioids are administered for analgesia. Increased demand in comparison to "opioid-naive" patients can be expected (Kork et al. 2010).

In the emergency situation, preoperative switching to methadone is not possible in opioid-dependent patients. Symptomatic patients are treated if necessary and the presence of withdrawal symptoms with a  $\mu$ -agonists. A regional anesthesia should be considered (Kork et al. 2010).

The consequences of drug-induced respiratory depression with consequent hypoxia or atelectasis, aspiration, cardiovascular symptoms, neurological symptoms, nerve compression and damage, and polysubstance comorbidity have to be evaluated. Next to the ABCDE (airway, breathing, circulation, disability, evaluation) approach, an ECG, cardiac enzymes, echocardiography, chest X-ray, imaging, lab and drug screening, and neurological and psychiatric evaluation are helpful (Hernandez et al. 2005; Kork et al. 2010).

Naloxone carefully titrated is one option to treat overdose. This is also helpful to establish the diagnosis. The effect of naloxone lasts only about 30–60 min. In emergency situations, naloxone administration can be potentially harmful. The initiation of (immediate) withdrawal stress in patients with impaired organ function is potentially dangerous. Craving-associated drug-seeking behavior in the emergency situation after antagonist administration can cause difficult situations. Trauma or impaired organ function, severe prolonged hypoxia, suicide intention, or intake of other CNS depressants that are non-mu agonists cannot be ruled out. Cases of pulmonary edema have been reported after naloxone treatment. Intubation and ventilation by skilled personal might be of lesser risk (Osterwalder 1996; Kork et al. 2010).

Complex psychiatric and somatic morbidity requires individualized psychosocial and medical care. Brief intervention might bridge into more intensive treatment. Detoxification should be carefully planned, (e.g., cold, agonist assisted, symptomatic treatment, or opioid antagonist induction therapy (naltrexone), e.g., under anesthesia (APA 2006).

The opiate antagonist-induced withdrawal under anesthesia is indicated only in special cases and is not associated with a better outcome. This method must be performed under ICU conditions. Opiate antagonist application induces a pronounced withdrawal syndrome with an increase in catecholamine and a strong cardiovascular stimulation in opioid-dependent patients. Severe hypokalemia may occur. In published protocols, multiple doses of naltrexone were administered intragastral during several hours under general anesthesia. Relevant other side effects are severe electrolyte disorders, nausea, gastric reflux, diarrhea, and muscle and stomach pain. The procedure continues until the withdrawal symptoms have subsided or a negative challenge test (intravenous administration of naloxone). The naltrexone maintenance treatment should be carried out for several months in an interdisciplinary psychosocial treatment approach (APA 2006; Brewer et al. 1998; Hensel and Kox 2000; Kork et al. 2010; Schmidt et al. 1998).

#### 111.5 Cocaine

#### 111.5.1 Clinic

The central and peripheral reuptake inhibition of norepinephrine, dopamine, and serotonin is responsible for the stimulatory effects of cocaine resulting in a stimulation of the CNS and the sympathetic system with pronounced cardiovascular and cerebrovascular effects and related complications. It has also a local anesthetic effect. The pathogenesis of ischemic complications is multifactorial: increased oxygen demand with a fixed or limited myocardial oxygen supply, myocardial vasoconstriction, and increased platelet aggregation tendency. By the chronic use of cocaine, there is a depletion of dopamine and other neurotransmitters and a decrease in dopamine receptors D2. This is associated with depression and the so-called crash. Therefore, all patients with a history of cocaine as well as stimulant use should be carefully evaluated, especially for cardiovascular and neurological morbidity (Egred and Davis 2005; Hernandez et al. 2005; Hollander and Henry 2006).

# 111.5.2 Therapy

Treatment of patients with chest pain and ECG changes includes oxygen, benzodiazepines, nitrates, and acetylsalicylate. Benzodiazepines can reduce the elevated blood pressure, tachycardia, and anxiety. Calcium channel blockers and alphablockers may be given in addition. Beta-blockers without alpha-blockade are contraindicated for the treatment of cocaine-induced hypertension and tachycardia. They increase the cocaine-related mortality, possibly due to increased  $\alpha$ -adrenergic stimulation, e.g., coronary spasm. The 1-selective blocker esmolol along with an infusion of sodium nitroprusside or the administration of calcium antagonists can be used. The indications for thrombolytic therapy should be made cautiously in the context of cocaine use. If symptoms persist, catheter revascularization seems to be safer (Egred and Davis 2005; Hernandez et al. 2005; Hollander and Henry 2006).

#### 111.5.3 Urgent and Emergency Intervention

Cocaine is rapidly metabolized and is therefore difficult to detect in the blood, but it can be detected in the urine up to 6 days after ingestion. The sympathomimetic effect may persist beyond the actual phase of intoxication. A cardiopulmonary and neurological evaluation should be performed. A drug screening reveals drug use. In addition to injuries, often associated with violence, chest pain is common among cocaine-induced symptoms in the ED patients. Cardiac troponin I or T is more specific compared to the CK-MB or even myoglobin for acute myocardial infarction after cocaine use. There is a high rate of false-positive myoglobin and creatine kinase values, especially in rhabdomyolysis. Acute cocaine ingestion can have cardiotoxic effects and is related to sudden death. ECG findings are abnormal in

56-84 % of patients with cocaine-associated chest pain. It should be noted that the sensitivity of the ECG is only 36 % and specificity is 90 %. Regional anesthesia during cocaine intoxication is not recommended because local anesthetics have similar pharmacological effects as cocaine and might potentiate toxicity. If general anesthesia is required in an urgent situation, avoid the potentiating substances, e.g., adrenergic stimulants, ketamine, etomidate, aminophylline, MAO inhibitors, tricyclic antidepressants, acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, muscle relaxants with autonomic side effects, local anesthetics, and volatile anesthetics with stimulating properties. The sympathomimetic effect of cocaine can make the assessment of the intravascular volume or blood loss difficult, so more extended monitoring next to arterial (and central venous) pressure measurement and monitoring of urine and hemodynamic stabilization before induction of anesthesia is important. As part of the intensive inpatient treatment, possible withdrawal symptoms are observed. Cerebral blood flow is reduced. First signs are lower blood pressure, hypothermia, and miosis. Benzodiazepines and clonidine can be considered (Egred and Davis 2005; Hernandez et al. 2005; Hollander and Henry 2006).

# 111.5.4 Elective Procedure

Patients with cocaine abuse have a higher risk of cardiovascular disease, also after the intoxication phase. The sympathomimetic effect can be prolonged and withdrawal also can be a risk for a cardiovascular event. Benzodiazepines in an adequate dosage can be given for premedication. Any stimulating medication should be used with caution, including those inhalation anesthetics or muscle relaxants such as pancuronium with autonomic side effects that sensitize the myocardium to catecholamines. The total intravenous anesthesia is preferred (Egred and Davis 2005; Hernandez et al. 2005; Hollander and Henry 2006).

#### 111.6 Other Drugs

It is beyond the scope of this chapter to describe all specific features of abused drugs with an addictive potential relevant for anesthesia. Synthetic drugs are increasingly used. Clinically important is a heterogeneous group of stimulatory, entactogenic ("touching the inside"), hallucinogenic, or hypnotic drugs with overlapping properties. As a general rule, symptomatic treatment, screening for drug use, and consulting expert help (e.g., poison control center) can be recommended for critically ill patients with suspected drug use. A systematic diagnostic approach might reveal unexpected morbidity, as acute and chronic use has been related to a wide spectrum of neurological, cardiovascular and pulmonary, metabolic, and infectious/immunological complications even in younger undergoing smaller procedures: Diagnostic strategies that include, e.g., a full lab, drug screen, echocardiography, or imaging, should be considered early. Patients with suspected intoxication should be monitored continuously. Street drugs may be mixed with many other relevant substances (Steadman and Birnbach 2003; Hernandez et al. 2005). Many patients use more than one drug, e.g., many self-medicate in order to overcome withdrawal symptoms, such as "the crash" that comes after taking stimulants or sedatives. A distinction between intoxication, withdrawal, and neurological insult is often difficult, and important other causes for delirium should be ruled out (Table 111.1, Kork et al. 2010; Spies and Rommelspacher 1999).

#### 111.6.1 Stimulants, Entactogens, and Hallucinogens

Ecstasy (e.g., MDMA), amphetamines, and LSD act more or less stimulating. Tachycardia, hypertension, dizziness, panic attacks, or visual illusions can occur. Clinical important complications are cardiac arrhythmias, hyperthermia, renal failure, hepatotoxicity, multiorgan failure, rhabdomyolysis, hyponatremia and cerebral edema, seizures and intracranial hemorrhage, altered consciousness, or sudden death (Hernandez et al. 2005; Hall and Henry 2006). When used in dance marathons, extreme dehydration and hyperthermia up to 42 °C might occur or hyponatremia due to excessive water intake. Cerebrovascular accidents and complications due to acute anxiety and panic disorders may also occur (Hernandez et al. 2005; Hall and Henry 2006).

#### 111.6.2 Treatment of Acute Intoxications

The treatment of acute stimulant intoxication is symptomatic. Dehydration and hyperthermia is treated with external and internal cooling, rehydration, antipyretics, correction of electrolyte imbalance and (metabolic) acidosis, and sedative and anticonvulsant therapy. Intubation and ventilation can be required. A sedative, antianxiety, and anticonvulsant treatment with benzodiazepines is usually indicated. Seizures can be treated with benzodiazepines or barbiturates. Arterial hypertension can be treated with urapidil, clonidine, nitroprusside, nitrates, or labetalol; beta-blockers alone without alpha-blockade should be avoided. The spectrum of cardiovascular complications and side effects is similar to cocaine stimulants (myocardial vasoconstriction, increased oxygen demand with a fixed or limited myocardial oxygen supply, and increased platelet aggregation propensity). Dantrolene is also recommended for hyperthermia, if temperature is >39 °C after initial treatment. It was considered probably safe and effective. The association with malignant hyperthermia is controversial. Clomethiazole or diazepam was effective in animal experiments for hyperthermia. Antipsychotic drugs are contraindicated as they might lower the seizure threshold, and it is difficult to differentiate the clinical presentation from the neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Hyponatremia should be carefully corrected. Metabolic acidosis should be corrected (especially when the QT interval is prolonged). In case of organ failure, conventional supportive ICU therapy is provided. Especially dangerous is the concomitant use of tricyclic antidepressants and monoamine oxidase inhibitors with MDMA.

Excessive release of serotonin leads to cerebral seizures, tremors, loss of consciousness, ventricular fibrillation, and death (Steadman and Birnbach 2003; Hernandez et al. 2005; Hall and Henry 2006; Grunau et al. 2010).

#### 111.6.3 Elective Procedure

If patients undergo procedures in the drug-free interval, a careful evaluation is necessary as outlined above. A history of seizures, a decreased hepatic and renal function, and coagulation disorder infections are of interest in all patients. All anesthetics should be titrated according to the effect (Kork et al. 2010). PCP and LSD might prolong succinylcholine via inhibition of plasma cholinesterase (Hernandez et al. 2005). Patients with MDMA-induced hyperthermia in the history should undergo a trigger-free anesthesia (Hernandez et al. 2005; Hall and Henry 2006; Steadman and Birnbach 2003). A brief intervention addressing risky use should be delivered. An interdisciplinary psychosocial counseling and treatment plan should be initiated early (Kork et al. 2010).

# 111.7 Cannabis

The risk profile of cannabis, also used in a dependent way, is predominantly characterized by an increased pulmonary morbidity due to smoking. During intoxication it has some dose-dependent effect on the sympathetic activity; an increase is followed by a decrease, thus tachycardia or hypotension and bradycardia. Components of cannabis might have relevant antiemetic, analgesic, anticonvulsant, and appetite increasing effects (Hernandez et al. 2005).

# 111.8 GABAergic Substances

Gamma-hydroxybutyrate is abused increasingly. The effect is dose dependent, may be influenced by consuming other drugs, and ranges from euphoric-relaxing effect to drowsiness and deep sleep with subsequent coma and possible respiratory depression. Side effects – nausea, vomiting, hypotension, respiratory distress, confusion, myocloni, and convulsions – were observed. It is used as K.O. drops or as a growth hormone releaser among bodybuilders. After intake it can cause a pronounced amnesia. It is not detected by routine drug screening (Steadman and Birnbach 2003; Hernandez et al. 2005). Many patients are dependent from benzodiazepines or are using them to cope with symptoms of withdrawal or comorbidity. Relevant interactions on the pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic level have to be considered. In these patients, an altered GABA receptor function can be assumed. All anesthetics should be titrated to the desired effect. Neuromonitoring is recommended to avoid intraoperative awareness. Abrupt withdrawal causes anxiety and may cause seizures and should be avoided. Also hypnotics are misused and have been linked to dependency. Not only healthcare providers have misused propofol in a risky or dependent way. In short-acting hypnotics, the range between the desired effect and relevant respiratory depression is narrow, especially in combination with other substances (Steadman and Birnbach 2003; Hernandez et al. 2005; Tan et al. 2011; Lader 2011).

# 111.9 Conclusion

Dependent patients with SUD can safely undergo procedures under anesthesia. In general, SUD and related complications can be successfully treated. By secondary or tertiary preventive measures in a multimodal interdisciplinary concept, the increased risk can be significantly reduced.

Elements are:

- · Systematic screening, using questionnaires/markers
- Systematic diagnostic evaluation
- · Brief interventions, tailored advice, and information
- · Patient-centered communication style
- · Individually tailored anesthesia
- Detoxification
- Abstinence
- Rehabilitation
- Psychosocial therapy
- · Stepped care
- Harm reduction
- · Monitoring and prevention of withdrawal symptoms, substitution therapy
- Monitoring and prevention of complications, goal-oriented therapy, symptom control, prevention of secondary injury, and stress reduction
- · Complex interdisciplinary treatment strategies
- Teaching and training

# References

- Amato L, Minozzi S, Davoli M (2011) Efficacy and safety of pharmacological interventions for the treatment of the alcohol withdrawal syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 15:CD008537
- Anton RF, O'Malley SS, Ciraulo DA et al (2006) Combined pharmacotherapies and behavioral interventions for alcohol dependence: the COMBINE study: a randomized controlled trial. J Am Med Assoc 295:2003–2017
- APA (2006) Treatment of patients with substance use disorders. American Psychiatric Association; www.psych.org
- Awissi DK, Lebrun G, Coursin DB, Riker RR, Skrobik Y (2013) Alcohol withdrawal and delirium tremens in the critically ill: a systematic review and commentary. Intensive Care Med 39:16–30
- Beilin B, Bessler H, Papismedov L et al (2005) Continuous physostigmine combined with morphine-based patient-controlled analgesia in the postoperative period. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 49:78–84

- Bluman LG, Mosca L, Newman N, Simon DG (1998) Preoperative smoking habits and postoperative pulmonary complications. Chest 113:883–889
- Bradley KA, Rubinsky AD, Sun H et al (2011) Alcohol screening and risk of postoperative complications in male VA patients undergoing major non-cardiac surgery. J Gen Intern Med 26:162
- Bråthen G, Ben-Menachem E, Brodtkorb E, Galvin R, Garcia-Monco JC, Halasz P, Hillbom M, Leone MA, Young AB (2005) EFNS guideline on the diagnosis and management of alcoholrelated seizures: report of an EFNS task force. Eur J Neurol 12:575–581
- Brewer C, Williams J, Rendueles EC, Garcia JB (1998) Unethical promotion of rapid opiate detoxification under anaesthesia (RODA). Lancet 351:218
- Egred M, Davis GK (2005) Cocaine and the heart. Postgrad Med J 81(959):568-571
- Galvin R, Bråthen G, Ivashynka A, Hillbom M, Tanasescu R, Leone MA, EFNS (2010) FNS guidelines for diagnosis, therapy and prevention of Wernicke encephalopathy. Eur J Neurol 17:1408–1418
- Gowing L, Farrell M, Ali R, White JM (2009) Alpha2-adrenergic agonists for the management of opioid withdrawal. Cochrane Database Syst Rev CD002024. Management of patients with dependencies
- Grunau BE, Wiens MO, Brubacher JR (2010) Dantrolene in the treatment of MDMA-related hyperpyrexia: a systematic review. CJEM 12:435–442, Review
- Hall AP, Henry JA (2006) Acute toxic effects of 'Ecstasy' (MDMA) and related compounds: overview of pathophysiology and clinical management. Br J Anaesth 96:678–685, Epub 4 Apr 2006. Review
- Hannuksela ML, Liisanantti MK, Nissinen AE, Savolainen MJ (2007) Biochemical markers of alcoholism. Clin Chem Lab Med 45:953–961
- Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerström KO (1991) The fagerström test for nicotine dependence: a revision of the fagerström tolerance questionnaire. Br J Addict 86:1119–1127
- Hensel M, Kox WJ (2000) Safety, efficacy, and long-term results of a modified version of rapid opiate detoxification under general anaesthesia: a prospective study in methadone, heroin, codeine and morphine addicts. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 44:326–333
- Hernandez M, Birnbach DJ, Van Zundert AA (2005) Anesthetic management of the illicitsubstance-using patient. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 18:315–324
- Hollander JE, Henry TD (2006) Evaluation and management of the patient who has cocaineassociated chest pain. Cardiol Clin 24:103–114
- Kip MJ, Neumann T, Jugel C, Kleinwaechter R, Weiss-Gerlach E, Guill MM, Spies CD (2008) New strategies to detect alcohol use disorders in the preoperative assessment clinic of a German university hospital. Anesthesiology 109:171–179
- Klotz U, Ammon E (1998) Clinical and toxicological consequences of the inductive potential of ethanol. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 54:7–1213
- Kork F, Neumann T, Spies C (2010) Perioperative management of patients with alcohol, tobacco and drug dependency. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 23:384–390
- Lader M (2011) Benzodiazepines revisited will we ever learn? Addiction 106(12):2086–2109. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03563.x, Epub 17 Oct 2011
- Lange LF, Spies CD, Weiss-Gerlach E, Neumann T, Salz AL, Tafelski S, Hein J, Seiferth N, Heinz A, Glaesmer H, Brähler E, Krampe H (2011) Bridging intervention in anaesthesiology: first results on treatment need, demand and utilization of an innovative psychotherapy program for surgical patients. Clin Health Promot – Res Best Pract Patients, Staff Commun 1:41–49
- Lau A, von Dossow V, Sander M, MacGuill M, Lanzke N, Spies C (2009) Alcohol use disorder and perioperative immune dysfunction. Anesth Analg 108:916–920, Review
- Lau A, Kramer S, Krämer M, Müller-Lobeck L, Wendler OG, Scheding C, Klarhöfer M, Schaffartzik W, Neumann T, Krampe H, Spies C (2011) Computerized anesthesia awareness – optimization of processes for planning anesthesia. Anasthesiol Intensivmed Notfallmed Schmerzther 46:E1–E6

- Lindström D, Sadr Azodi O, Wladis A, Tønnesen H, Linder S, Nåsell H, Ponzer S, Adami J (2008) Effects of a perioperative smoking cessation intervention on postoperative complications: a randomized trial. Ann Surg 248:739–745
- Lütz A, Heymann A, Radtke FM (2010) Different assessment tools for intensive care delirium: which score to use? Crit Care Med 38:409–418
- Martin MJ, Heymann C, Neumann T, Schmidt L, Soost F, Mazurek B, Bohm B, Marks C, Helling K, Lenzenhuber E, Muller C, Kox WJ, Spies CD (2002) Preoperative evaluation of chronic alcoholics assessed for surgery of the upper digestive tract. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 26:836–840
- Martin J, Heymann A, Bäsell K et al (2010) Evidence and consensus-based German guidelines for the management of analgesia, sedation and delirium in intensive care – short version. Ger Med Sci 8:Doc02
- McKinzie BP, Worrall CL, Simpson KN, Couillard DJ, Leon SM (2010) Impact of elevated per cent carbohydrate-deficient transferrin at hospital admission on outcomes in trauma patients. Am Surg 76:492–496
- Møller AM, Villebro N, Pedersen T, Tønnesen H (2002) Effect of preoperative smoking intervention on postoperative complications: a randomised clinical trial. Lancet 359:114–117
- Moss M, Burnham EL (2006) Alcohol abuse in the critically ill patient. Lancet 368:2231–2242
- Neumann T, Spies C (2003) Use of biomarkers for alcohol use disorders in clinical practice. Addiction 98:81–91
- Neumann T, Kox WJ, Spies CD (2003) Anästhesiologisches Vorgehen bei Sucht- und Begleiterkrankungen in Forschung und Praxis. Suchtmed 5:13–20
- Neumann T, Neuner B, Gentilello LM, Weiss-Gerlach E, Mentz H, Rettig JS, Schroder T, Wauer H, Muller C, Schutz M, Mann K, Siebert G, Dettling M, Muller JM, Kox WJ, Spies CD (2004) Gender differences in the performance of a computerized version of the alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT) in subcritically injured patients admitted to the emergency department. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 28:1693–1701
- Neumann T, Neuner B, Weiss-Gerlach E, Tønnesen H, Gentilello LM, Wernecke KD, Schmidt K, Schröder T, Wauer H, Heinz A, Mann K, Müller JM, Haas N, Kox WJ, Spies CD (2006) The effect of computerized tailored brief advice on at-risk drinking in subcritically injured trauma patients. J Trauma 61:805–814
- Neumann T, Neuner B, Weiss-Gerlach E, Lippitz F, Spies CD (2008) Accuracy of carbon monoxide in venous blood to detect smoking in male and female trauma patients. Biomark Med 2:31–39
- NICE 24 (2010) Alcohol-use disorders: preventing the development of hazardous and harmful drinking (PH 24). National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE), UK
- NICE 100 (2010) Alcohol-use disorders: diagnosis and clinical management of alcohol-related physical complications (CG100). National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE), London, UK
- NICE 115 (2011) Alcohol-use disorders: diagnosis, assessment and management of harmful drinking and alcohol dependence (CG115). National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE), London, UK
- Oppedal K, Møller AM, Pedersen B, Tønnesen H (2012) Preoperative alcohol cessation prior to elective surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 7:CD008343. doi:10.1002/14651858. CD008343.pub2, Review
- Osterwalder JJ (1996) Naloxone for intoxications with intravenous heroin and heroin mixtures harmless or hazardous? A prospective clinical study. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 34:409–416
- Otter H, Martin J, Basell K, von Heymann C, Hein OV, Bollert P, Jansch P, Behnisch I, Wernecke KD, Konertz W, Loening S, Blohmer JU, Spies C (2005) Validity and reliability of the DDS for severity of delirium in the ICU. Neurocrit Care 2:150–158
- Pedersen B, Alva-Jørgensen P, Raffing R, Tønnesen H (2011) Fractures and alcohol abuse patient opinion of alcohol intervention. Open Orthop J 5:7–12

- Riordan SM, Williams R (2002) Alcohol exposure and paracetamol-induced hepatotoxicity. Addict Biol 7:191–206
- Rubinsky AD, Sun H, Blough DK, Maynard C, Bryson CL, Harris AH, Hawkins EJ, Beste LA, Henderson WG, Hawn MT, Hughes G, Bishop MJ, Etzioni R, Tønnesen H, Kivlahan DR, Bradley KA (2012) AUDIT-C alcohol screening results and postoperative inpatient health care use. J Am Coll Surg 214(3):296–305.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2011.11.007, Epub 11 Jan 2012
- Runge JW, Hargarten S, Velianoff G, Brewer PA, D'Onofrio G, Soderstrom CA, Gentilello LM, Flaherty L, Fiellin DA, Degutis LC, Pantalon MV (2001) Recommended best practices of emergency medical care for the alcohol impaired patient: screening and brief intervention for alcohol problems in the Emergency Department; http://www.nhtsa.dot.gov/people/injury/alcohol/EmergCare/recommended.htm. Accessed 2001
- Sander M, Irwin M, Sinha P, Naumann E, Kox WJ, Spies CD (2002) Suppression of interleukin-6 to interleukin-10 ratio in chronic alcoholics: association with postoperative infections. Intensive Care Med 28:285–292
- Schmidt LG, Smolka M, Gautam S, Spies C (1998) Klinische und neurobiologische Befunde zum forcierten Opiatentzug
- Sørensen LT, Jørgensen T (2003) Short-term preoperative smoking cessation intervention does not affect postoperative complications in colorectal surgery: a randomized clinical trial. Colorectal Dis 5:347–352
- Spies CD, Rommelspacher H (1999) Alcohol withdrawal in the surgical patient: prevention and treatment. Anesth Analg 88:946–952
- Spies CD, Neuner B, Neumann T, Blum S, Muller C, Rommelspacher H, Rieger A, Sanft C, Specht M, Hannemann L, Striebel HW, Schaffartzik W (1996a) Intercurrent complications in chronic alcoholics admitted to the intensive care unit following trauma. Intensive Care Med 22:286–293
- Spies CD, Nordmann A, Brummer G, Marks C, Conrad C, Berger G, Runkel N, Neumann T, Muller C, Rommelspacher H, Specht M, Hannemann L, Striebel HW, Schaffartzik W (1996b) Intensive care unit stay is prolonged in chronic alcoholic men following tumor resection of the upper digestive tract. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 40:649–656
- Spies CD, Kissner M, Neumann T, Blum S, Voigt C, Funk T, Runkel N, Pragst F (1998) Elevated carbohydrate-deficient transferrin predicts prolonged intensive care unit stay in traumatized men. Alcohol Alcohol 33:661–669
- Spies CD, Sander M, Stangl K, Fernandez-Sola J, Preedy VR, Rubin E, Andreasson S, Hanna EZ, Kox WJ (2001a) Effects of alcohol on the heart. Curr Opin Crit Care 7:337–343
- Spies C, Toennesen H, Andreasson S, Helander A, Conigrave K (2001b) Perioperative morbidity and mortality in chronic alcoholic patients. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 25:164–170, 5 Suppl ISBRA
- Spies CD, Otter HE, Hüske B, Sinha P, Neumann T, Rettig J, Lenzenhuber E, Kox WJ, Sellers EM (2003) Alcohol withdrawal severity is decreased by symptom-orientated adjusted bolus therapy in the ICU. Intensive Care Med 29:2230–2238
- Spies CD, von Dossow V, Eggers V, Jetschmann G, El-Hilali R, Egert J, Fischer M, Schroder T, Hoflich C, Sinha P, Paschen C, Mirsalim P, Brunsch R, Hopf J, Marks C, Wernecke KD, Pragst F, Ehrenreich H, Muller C, Tonnesen H, Oelkers W, Rohde W, Stein C, Kox WJ (2004) Altered cell-mediated immunity and increased postoperative infection rate in long-term alcoholic patients. Anesthesiology 100:1088–1100
- Spies C, Eggers V, Szabo G, Lau A, von Dossow V, Schoenfeld H, Althoff H, Hegenscheid K, Bohm B, Schroeder T, Pfeiffer S, Ziemer S, Paschen C, Klein M, Marks C, Miller P, Sander M, Wernecke KD, Achterberg E, Kaisers U, Volk HD (2006a) Intervention at the level of the neuroendocrine-immune axis and postoperative pneumonia rate in long-term alcoholics. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 174:408–414
- Spies CD, Schulz CM, Weiss-Gerlach E, Neuner B, Neumann T, von Dossow V, Schenk M, Wernecke KD, Elwyn G (2006b) Preferences for shared decision making in chronic pain

patients compared with patients during a premedication visit. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 50(8):1019–1026

- Steadman JL, Birnbach DJ (2003) Patients on party drugs undergoing anesthesia. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 16:147–152
- Tan KR, Rudolph U, Lüscher C (2011) Hooked on benzodiazepines: GABAA receptor subtypes and addiction. Trends Neurosci 34(4):188–197. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2011.01.004, Epub 25 Feb 2011
- Tønnesen H, Pedersen S, Lavrsen M, Tuxøe JI, Thomsen CF (2012) Reduced wound healing capacity in alcohol abusers – reversibility after withdrawal. Clin Health Promot 2(3):89–92
- Tønnesen H, Petersen KR, Højgaard L, Stokholm KH, Nielsen HJ, Knigge U, Kehlet H (1992) Postoperative morbidity among symptom-free alcohol misusers. Lancet 340:334–340
- Tønnesen H, Nielsen PR, Lauritzen JB, Moller AM (2009) Smoking and alcohol intervention before surgery: evidence for best practice. Br J Anesth 102:297–306
- Ungur LA, Neuner B, John S, Wernecke K, Spies C (2013) Prevention and therapy of alcohol withdrawal on intensive care units: systematic review of controlled trials. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 37:675–686
- VA/DoD (2009) VA/DoD clinical practice guideline for management of substance use disorders (SUD). Department of Defense, Federal Government Agency, Department of Veterans Affairs; Veterans Health Administration, USA; http://www.healthquality.va.gov/guidelines/mh/sud/ index.asp. Accessed 1 Dec 2011
- Woolf SH, Grol R, Hutchinson A, Eccles M, Grimshaw J (1999) Clinical guidelines: potential benefits, limitations, and harms of clinical guidelines. BMJ 318(7182):527–530
- Zwissler B, Reither A (2005) Das präoperative "Rauchverbot". Ein überholtes Dogma in der Anästhesie? Anaesthesist 54:550–559